IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-257

DEAN KILGORE, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NEAL A. DUPREE CCRC-SOUTH Florida Bar No. 311545

WILLIAM M. HENNIS III Litigation Director Florida Bar No. 0066850

PAUL KALIL Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 0174114

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL - SOUTH 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 713-1284 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Mr. Kilgore's conviction and sentences are materially unreliable because no adversarial testing occurred due to the cumulative effects of ineffective assistance of counsel, the withholding of exculpatory or impeachment evidence,

newly discovered evidence, and/or improper rulings by the trial court, in violation of Mr. Kilgore's rights as guaranteed by the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.

2. The lower court erred when it found no deficient performance by trial counsel and no prejudice below to Mr. Kilgore, who was denied the effective assistance of counsel at the sentencing phase of his trial in violation of the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments and United States Supreme Court case law. Mr. Kilgore's due process rights were violated. No adversarial testing occurred, counsel's performance was deficient, and as a result, Mr. Kilgore's death sentence is unreliable.

3. The lower court's finding, following an evidentiary hearing, that a mental retardation evaluation in Florida in the context of capital postconviction requires a finding that there is a bright line IQ score cutoff of 70 or below with no allowance for standard error of measurement was erroneous and an abuse of discretion. This finding violated Mr. Kilgore's rights under the equal protection and due process clauses of the Fourteenth amendment as well as the Eight amendment's prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment pursuant to *Atkins*. In addition, the lower court should have considered the evidence below and made findings as to age of onset and adaptive functioning.

4. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203 failed to provide Appellant with a

Constitutionally adequate procedure to resolve his mental retardation claim in circuit court.

5. Other findings by the lower court were in error.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

The Circuit Court of the Tenth Judicial Circuit, Polk County, entered the judgments of convictions and sentences under consideration. On March 2, 1989, a Polk County grand jury indicted Mr. Kilgore for one count of first degree murder of Emerson Robert Jackson, a fellow inmate at Polk Correctional Institution, on February 13, 1989; and for one count of possession of contraband by an inmate. Mr. Kilgore was initially sentenced to death in 1990 by the Honorable Tim Strickland, after pleading *nolo contendere* to first degree murder. During the ensuing appeal, this Court returned jurisdiction to the circuit court when questions arose as to the validity of Mr. Kilgore's plea to first degree murder.

After a hearing before the Honorable Susan C. Bucklew, Mr. Kilgore was allowed to return to Circuit Court for a new disposition of his case. Mr. Kilgore filed a motion requesting that the Circuit Court impose a life sentence, which was denied, and Mr. Kilgore was instead retried in 1994. A jury returned a verdict of guilty and recommended a sentence of death by a vote of nine (9) to three (3).

On April 27, 1994, the Honorable Dennis P. Maloney sentenced Mr. Kilgore to death on a count of first degree murder. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Kilgore's convictions and sentences. *Kilgore v. State*, 688 So. 2d 895 (Fla. 1996), *cert. denied*, 139 L.Ed. 58 (1997).

Under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 (1996), predecessor counsel for Mr. Kilgore in

CCRC-Middle filed a Motion to Vacate on June 5, 1998. Thereafter, CCRC Middle conflicted off Mr. Kilgore's case and CCRC South was appointed in replacement.

At first appearance in Polk County on Mr. Kilgore's behalf CCRC South was notified in open court on February 29,2000 by the Honorable Dennis P. Maloney that Roger Allan Alcott, the trial counsel for Mr. Kilgore in his 1994 capital case, had recently been appointed to the Circuit Court bench for the Tenth Judicial Circuit and had an office adjacent to Judge Maloney.

CCRC South filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge on March 24, 2000 along with an original affidavit of Dean Kilgore of March 28, 2000, alleging that Judge Maloney's personal and professional relationship with Judge Alcott presented a conflict extending to all the judges in the Tenth Judicial Circuit.

Circuit Judge Dennis Maloney disqualified himself on March 31, 2000, and thereafter, the Honorable J. Rogers Padgett of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit was appointed by this court. Mr. Kilgore filed an amended Rule 3.850/3.851 motion on October 14, 2002, raising twenty-seven (27) grounds for relief.

Following a $Huff^{d}$ hearing on February 7, 2003, on April 29, 2004 the lower court entered an order detailing the claims upon which a hearing was granted. They included: Claim II (in part), at 5214-45², Ineffective Assistance of Counsel (IAC)

¹ *Huff v. State*, 622 So. 2d 982, 983 (Fla. 1993).

² The page citation for these claims is to the lower court's order of April 29,

during pre-trial and trial/no adversarial testing, including points 3, 8, 9, 10, 18-27, 28, 29. 30, 31, 32; Claim IV (in part), at 5246-49, IAC during Voir Dire, including points 1 and 2; Claim V (in part), at 5249-63, prosecutorial misconduct at guilt/innocence and penalty phase/IAC, including point 5; Claim VI (in part), at pages 5263-68, Ake v. Oklahoma/IAC claim at guilt and penalty phases of capital trial, including points 2, 3, 5, 6 and 7; Claim VIII, at pages 5269-70, the entire IAC at sentencing phase claim; and Claim XV (in part), at pages 5283-87, the IAC /Ring v. Arizona claim, including points 2 and 4. Mr. Kilgore's other claims were summarily denied with the exception of Claims VII and XXVII (both Cumulative Consideration), upon which the lower court reserved ruling until after the evidentiary hearing.³ The lower court issued an interim order on August 24, 2004 granting a hearing in part of Claim XX. The first evidentiary hearing was held on June 13-17, 2005.

At the evidentiary hearing the following witnesses testified: Trial counsel Roger A. Alcott, PCR. 2187-2534; defense expert Jimmy Bell, Professor of Sociology at Jackson State University, Jackson, Mississippi, PCR. 2539-2641; Jeff Holmes, Esq., predecessor trial counsel in 1989-90, PCR. 2646-2742; defense

2004, found at PCR. 5213-5303.

³ The lower court denied claims I, II (in part), III, IV (in part), V (in part), VI (in part), IX, X, XI, XII, XII, XIV, XV (in part), XVI, XVII, XVIII, XIX, XX, XXI, XXII, XXIII, XXIV, XXV, and XXVI.

expert Dr. Thomas Hyde, a behavioral neurologist, PCR. 2742-60; Dorothy Speight, sister of appellant, PCR. 2765-95; Elbert Kilgore, brother of appellant, PCR. 2795-2829; Jimmy Dean Kilgore, brother of appellant, PCR. 2829-55; inmate witnesses Jonathan Montgomery, PCR. 2855-69, Timothy Squires, PCR. 2869-79, Anthony Jackson, PCR. 2879-87, Jeffrey Barnes, PCR. 2888-99, Stanley Williams, PCR. 2899-2902; defense expert Dr. Richard Dudley PCR. 2925-81, defense expert Dr. Hyman Eisenstein, PCR. 2981-3086; inmate Charley Thompson, PCR. 3091-3126, defense expert Dr. Henry Dee, 3127-82; and later memorialized testimony of Barbara Ann Jackson, PCR. 3127, 3485-3510.

At the at the close of the June 2005 evidentiary hearing on the State's motion, the lower court ordered Mr. Kilgore to amend pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203(d)(4)(c). PCR. 3185-91. Accordingly, on August 15, 2005, Mr. Kilgore filed an amended 3.850 motion detailing his Constitutional right against execution under *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304 (2002).

In an order dated October 21, 2005, the lower court indicated that "in an abundance of caution" it would grant an evidentiary hearing to address Mr. Kilgore's claims of mental retardation as alleged in both his initial and amended 3.851 motions.⁴ A hearing ultimately was held on January 22-23, 2007.

⁴ This same Order reserved judgment on all the other claims as presented in Mr. Kilgore's June 2005 evidentiary hearing.

During the second evidentiary hearing counsel for Mr. Kilgore presented the testimony of Court appointed expert Dr. Hyman Eisenstein and CCRC Investigator Katt McNish on January 22, 2007. PCR. 3679-3791; PCR. 3791-97. On January 23, 2007 defense expert Dr. Henry Dee who had previously testified in 2005 again testified PCR. 3803-71. Later that same day the State presented the testimony of the second court appointed expert, Dr. Michael Gamache. PCR. 3872-4066.

The Honorable J. Rogers Padgett entered a final order denying all relief on November 26, 2008. It was received and filed by Richard M. Weiss, Clerk of Court for Polk County on December 3, 2008. It was not received by CCRC until January 21, 2009. The Order included rulings on twenty-seven (27) claims. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT I

MR. KILGORE'S CONVICTIONS AND SENTENCES ARE MATERIALLY UNRELIABLE BECAUSE NO ADVERSARIAL TESTING **OCCURRED DUE** TO THE **CUMULATIVE** EFFECTS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, WITHHOLDING EXCULPATORY THE OF OR IMPEACHMENT MATERIAL, NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE, AND/OR IMPROPER RULINGS OF THE TRIAL COURT, IN VIOLATION OF MR. KILGORE'S RIGHTS AS GUARANTEED BY THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

A. Introduction

A fair trial is one which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the

proceeding. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984). In order to insure that an adversarial testing, and hence a fair trial, occurs, certain obligations are imposed upon both the prosecutor and defense counsel. The prosecutor is required to disclose to the defense evidence "that is both favorable to the accused and `material either to guilt or punishment'". United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 674 (1985), quoting Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963). Defense counsel is obligated "to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 685. Where either or both fail in their obligations, a new trial is required if confidence is undermined in the outcome. Smith v. Wainwright, 799 F.2d 1442 (11th Cir. 1986). To the extent that newly discovered evidence is uncovered, that evidence must be considered along with the evidence not disclosed by the State and/or not investigated by defense counsel in assessing the reliability of the outcome. State v. Gunsby, 670 So. 2d 920 (Fla. 1996). Further, the Eighth Amendment recognizes the need for increased scrutiny in the review of capital verdicts and sentences. Beck v. Alabama, 477 U.S. 625 (1980).

Mr. Kilgore was denied a reliable adversarial testing. The jury never heard the considerable and compelling exculpatory and impeachment evidence. In order "to ensure that a miscarriage of justice [did] not occur," *Bagley*, 473 U.S. at 675, it was essential for the jury to hear this evidence. *State v. Gunsby*. Whether the State suppressed the evidence, defense counsel unreasonably failed to present the evidence, or the evidence is newly discovered, confidence is undermined in the outcome because the jury did not hear the evidence.

B. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

An ineffective assistance claim has two components: A petitioner must show that counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficiency prejudiced the defense. *Id., at 687.* To establish deficient performance, a petitioner must demonstrate that counsel's representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Id., at 688.*

Wiggins v. Smith, 123 S. Ct. 2527, 2535 (2003). Counsel has "[A] duty to bring to

bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing

process." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668 (citation omitted).

In the context of ineffective assistance of counsel, that the correct focus is on

the fundamental fairness of the proceeding:

In every case the court should be concerned with whether, despite the strong presumption of reliability, the result of the particular proceeding is unreliable because of a breakdown in the adversarial process that our system counts on to produce just results.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 696 (1984). The evidence presented in

Mr. Kilgore's postconviction proceedings demonstrates that the result of his capital trial is unreliable.

1. Counsel's Failure to Investigate and Prepare

Counsel's highest duty is the duty to investigate and prepare. Where, as here,

counsel unreasonably fails to investigate and prepare, the defendant is denied a fair adversarial testing process and the proceedings' results are rendered unreliable. Roger Alcott first appeared in court on the case on a motion to continue on May 6, 1993. R. 33-34. Despite assistant counsel being available to him, Alcott never requested another lawyer to work with him on Kilgore's case. The practice of appointing second chair counsel was not unusual. Previous counsel Holmes was promised a second chair attorney if he stayed on the case, and Mr. Kilgore was represented by two attorneys at his 1978 murder trial.

Alcott did virtually nothing on Mr. Kilgore's case in the seven months following his appointment, as he wrote to Mr. Kilgore:

I have your letter of 28 November, 1993 and wish to advise you that I have obtained the transcripts of the depositions taken by Mr. Holmes and am in the process of obtaining a transcript of the proceedings held before Judge Strickland at the time of your sentencing. Right now I need those transcripts to prepare for your trial. Once I am done with them, I will package them up and mail them to you.

* * *

I do need from you a list with the name and address of persons who you would like to have me subpoena for court who can testify as to what a proper sentence for you in the event you are found guilty, and witnesses who might testify as to your guilt or innocence. Please supply me with a list of the names and addresses as best you can as quickly as possible.

When that letter was written on December 2, 1993, Alcott had only spent about 17

hours on Kilgore's case since he had been appointed. This included a little over four

hours in hearings and only a couple of hours with predecessor counsel Holmes. There

is no indication he ever spoke with counsel from Mr. Kilgore's 1978 case.

According to the affidavit for payment filed after the trial, Alcott met only once with Kilgore for 1.5 hours on May 14, 1993 ("Interview client and review letter") and had a brief phone call with him on August 2, 1993. These were the only contacts Kilgore had with trial counsel that were not associated with a court appearance until the December 1993 letter.

Alcott failed to move for the appointment of any expert until just weeks before the trial. He never requested the appointment of, or funds for, an investigator. He did no independent investigation and he also failed to depose any witnesses, simply relying on the work of Holmes in 1989-1990, the lawyer Mr. Kilgore had fired. Rather than conducting an independent investigation, Alcott relied on the self-report of Mr. Kilgore, a man he later would argue was brain damaged and mentally retarded.

On March 2, 1994, Alcott finally filed a motion requesting that psychologist Dr. Henry Dee be appointed for mitigation purposes and an order was entered by the trial court appointing Dr. Dee two days later. R. 45-48. A pre-trial conference was held on March 23, 1994. R. 50-80. Other than the motion for an expert, Alcott filed no other new motions after taking over for Holmes a year before. R. 60-61.

Alcott failed to ask for the recusal of the circuit despite the fact that Judge Strickland had been a material witness in the interim proceedings before Judge Susan Bucklew. R. 67-68. Although Alcott stated on the record that Mr. Kilgore had expressed deep concerns about the case being retried in Polk County after his experiences with Judge Strickland in both 1978 and 1990, Mr. Alcott failed to file either a motion for change of venue or a motion to recuse the Tenth Judicial Circuit. In the pretrial conference he said that he didn't personally consider the limited pre-trial publicity a problem. R. 55-56. No mention was made of the issues of racism, homophobia or the fact that the case involved a prison killing. Mr. Kilgore was denied his right to a fair and impartial jury by prejudicial pretrial publicity, by the lack of a change of venue, and by counsel's failure to plead events in the courtroom during the 1978 and 1990 trials before Judge Strickland and during the 1994 trial. Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in this regard and/or the trial court erred. Denied below without a hearing. PCR. 5292-94.

2. Counsel's Failure to Adequately Voir Dire

Mr. Kilgore's rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the Florida constitution were violated by counsel's ineffectiveness during voir dire whether due to counsel's deficiencies or being rendered ineffective by state action. Denied below. PCR. 5150-55. Strategic decision was found below as the rationale for trial counsel's failure to: (1) request individual voir dire; (2) inquire as to issues of bias concerning homosexuality or race; or (3) request additional preemptory challenges in instant

circumstances where the crime was a black on black prison murder involving homosexual lovers. Race and homosexuality were issues that trial counsel ignored during jury selection to the significant prejudice of Mr. Kilgore. In addition, counsel was ineffective where he failed to review the record of Mr. Kilgore's case with predecessor counsel in preparation for jury selection. After he was informed in open court by the state, trial counsel admitted on the record during the pre-trial conference that he was unaware that in 1990 predecessor counsel Jeff Holmes had been allowed individual voir dire on the issues of jurors feelings about prison killings and homosexuality. R. 57. During voir dire, trial counsel completely failed to request individual voir dire even when it became apparent that jurors in the pool harbored anti-homosexual bias. In addition, racial bias as a possible subject matter for individual voir dire was not raised by the state or by trial counsel in 1994. Trial counsel's efforts to uncover potential racial bias amongst jurors was wholly inadequate.

At Mr. Kilgore's 1990 proceedings, Jeff Holmes argued before Judge Strickland that individual voir dire of potential jurors was necessary to assure no racial bias affected their decision. Holmes called a fellow defense attorney to testify that he had had experiences trying cases in Polk County where racial bias was a factor. Holmes also noted on the record that he and attorney Dan Brawley, who had served as co-counsel for Mr. Kilgore in 1978, had recently upset a jury panel by

trying to draw out admissions of racialist feeling. (1990 R. 865). Judge Strickland granted Holmes's request and allowed individual voir dire of prospective jurors regarding race and homosexuality issues, (1990 R. 856), and later stated on the record during the trial:

I can remember death, homosexuality and race. Those are rather sensitive. People may not wish to speak openly with those things.

* * *

Well, sitting over there, Mr. Kilgore looks like a person who's entitled to his constitutional rights. Sitting five feet from my white 21 year old female juror, I'm not sure that she's going to feel that way about it. And the next question is whether of not she can candidly tell us that or if she develops a sort of distinct dislike for Mr. Kilgore in the pit of her stomach, but we don't ask her that question.

(1990 R. 4, 9). Trial counsel's jury selection in 1994 shows no awareness of this past

record in Polk County. Trial counsel's voir dire regarding race was insufficient. See

Jurors Griffin, Sutherland, Smith, Curry, Wise, Abney, and Boykin.

PCR. 1808-1922.

Alcott's questioning of the potential jurors failed to elicit meaningful

responses indicative of prejudice:

One topic I want to mention very quickly and go over it. Mr. Kilgore is obviously a black man. Is there any problem with you serving as a juror in such a case where you're white and he's black?

PCR. 1915. While the jurors did not indicate a "problem" with deciding Mr. Kilgore's case, Alcott made no effort to uncover potential bias that would affect their decision.

Cook, Mackroy, Fugate, Sulim and Wise were never asked about any issues regarding race and their participation in this case by either the state or Mr. Alcott. The following exchange occurred during voir dire between Assistant State Attorney Paul Wallace and Juror Charles Fugate:

MR. WALLACE: Mr. Fugate, do you know anyone who is a homosexual?

MR. FUGATE: Yeah.

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