IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEAN KILGORE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC09-257 L.T. No. CF89-0686A1-XX

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0327832 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Court examined whether, under Cooper v. Oklahoma, 517 U.S. 348 (1996), the standard of proof required to establish a defendant's incompetency to be executed under Florida law was appropriate. In *Medina*, this Court held that *Cooper's* due process concern with a lower standard for a pretrial determination of competency was not applicable in the post-conviction context.

v. State, 959 So. 2d 702 (Fla. 2007) - and the IQ cut-off score at 70 - as an obstacle to his mental retardation claim. (Initial Brief at 93 - 97).

The arguments raised by Kilgore in his attack of rule 3.203 were raised by other members of the capital defense bar when this Court was in the process of drafting the rule. <u>See</u>, e.g. *Pleadings filed*, SC03-685, *Amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure and the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure*. Certainly, this Court considered the defense arguments when crafting Rule 3.203; and Kilgore essentially repeats arguments that were squarely rejected by this Court in Nixon v. State, 2 So. 3d 137, 145-146 (Fla. 2009). In Nixon, this Court ruled:

In 2001, the Florida Legislature enacted section 921.137, Florida Statutes (2001), which barred the imposition of a death sentence on the mentally retarded and established a method for determining which capital defendants are mentally retarded. See § 921.137, Fla. Stat. (2001). The following year, the United States Supreme Court issued its opinion in Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 122 S.Ct. 2242, 153 L.Ed.2d 335 (2002), holding that execution of mentally retarded offenders constitutes "excessive" punishment under the Eighth Amendment. In response to Atkins and section 921.137, we promulgated Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.203, specifies the procedure for raising mental which retardation as a bar to a death sentence. Pursuant to both section 921.137 and rule 3.203, a defendant must retardation by demonstrating: prove mental (1)significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning; (2) concurrent deficits in adaptive behavior; and (3) manifestation of the condition before age eighteen. See § 921.137(1), Fla. Stat. (2007); Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.203(b).

*

*

*

Cherry Decision

Nixon first argues that this Court's interpretation of section 921.137 in *Cherry*, which requires a defendant to have an IQ score of 70 or below, violates *Atkins*.

* *

*

...We have consistently interpreted this definition to require a defendant seeking exemption from execution to establish he has an IQ of 70 or below. See, e.g., Jones v. State, 966 So.2d 319, 329 (Fla. 2007) ("[U]nder the plain language of the statute, 'significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning' correlates with an IQ of 70 or below."); Zack v. State, 911 So. 2d 1190, 1201 (Fla. 2005) (finding that to be exempt from execution under Atkins, a defendant must establish that he has an IQ of 70 or below).

...We have consistently interpreted section 921.137(1) as providing that a defendant may establish mental retardation by demonstrating all three of the following factors: (1) significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning; (2) concurrent deficits in adaptive behavior; and (3) manifestation of the condition before age eighteen. See, e.g., *Jones*, 966 So.2d at 325; Johnston, 960 So.2d at 761. Thus, the lack of proof on any one of these components of mental retardation would result in the defendant not being found to suffer from mental retardation.

Nixon further asserts that our interpretation of section 921.137(1) does not provide constitutionally adequate procedures to determine mental retardation...

...The trial court informed Nixon of his opportunity to present his case, provided an evidentiary hearing, determined Nixon's mental retardation claim on the basis of the examinations performed by two psychiatrists, and provided Nixon with an adequate opportunity to submit expert evidence in response to the report and testimony of the court-appointed expert. We find that Nixon was included in the truth-seeking process and had a full and fair opportunity to present evidence relevant to his mental retardation claim and to challenge the stateappointed psychiatrist's opinions. Because the statute, rule, and caselaw outline adequate procedures for the presentation of mental retardation claims, Nixon is not entitled to relief on this issue.

* * *

...In Jones v. State, 966 So. 2d 319, 326 (Fla. 2007), we found that Florida's definition of mental retardation is consistent with the American Psychiatric Association's diagnostic criteria for mental retardation...

* * *

Burden of Proof

Nixon argues that the trial court erred by requiring him to prove his mental retardation. Nixon opines that the State is required to prove that he is not mentally retarded beyond a reasonable doubt. Contrary to this assertion, we have consistently held that it is the defendant who must establish the three prongs for mental retardation. See, e.g., Cherry, 959 So.2d at 711; Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.203(e). Moreover, Nixon argues that if he bears the burden of showing his mental retardation, the appropriate standard is preponderance of the evidence. However, section 921.137(4) specifically states:

At the final sentencing hearing, the court shall consider the findings of the court-appointed experts and consider the findings of any other expert which is offered by the state or the defense on the issue of whether the defendant has mental retardation. If the court finds, by clear and convincing evidence, that the defendant has mental retardation as defined in subsection (1), the court may not impose a sentence of death and shall enter a written order that sets forth with specificity the findings in support of the determination.

(Emphasis added.) We need not address this claim because the circuit court held that Nixon could not establish his mental retardation under either the clear and convincing evidence standard or the preponderance of the evidence standard. See *Jones*, 966 So.2d at 329-30 (noting that we did not need to address the claim because the trial court found that "Jones did not present evidence sufficient to meet even the lesser standard of preponderance of the evidence") (citing *Trotter*, 932 So.2d at 1049 n. 5). Nixon also claims that under Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002), due process requires that a jury find beyond a reasonable doubt any facts that would make a defendant eligible for the death penalty. We have rejected this argument and held that a defendant "has no right under Ring and Atkins to a jury determination of whether he is mentally retarded." Arbelaez v. State, 898 So. 2d 25, 43 (Fla. 2005); see also Rodriguez v. State, 919 So. 2d 1252, 1267 (Fla. 2005); Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So.2d 693 (Fla.2002).

The defendant contends the trial court erroneously rejected his argument that rule 3.203 does not provide a constitutionally adequate procedure for resolving mental retardation claims by persons whose death sentences were final before the Supreme Court decided Atkins. More specifically, Nixon argues that rule 3.203 extends due process and other constitutional guarantees only to those who have not yet been sentenced to death. The claim is meritless. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.203 adopts the statutory definition of mental retardation and recognizes that Atkins applies to any defendant currently on death row. See Fla. R.Crim. Pro. 3.203(d); Brown, 959 So.2d at 147 n. 1 (citing Phillips v. State, 894 So.2d 28, 39-40 (Fla.2004)).

* * *

Nixon, 2 So. 3d at 141-146 (e.s.)

In this case, as in the above-cited decisions, including *Nixon*, *Cherry*, *Jones*, *Arbelaez* and *Rodriguez*, Kilgore's postconviction challenge to the constitutionality of the procedures in Rule 3.203 must be denied.

ISSUE V

THE IAC AND CRUEL & UNUSUAL PUNISHMNENT CLAIMS

In this final issue, which totals *two* pages (Initial Brief at 97-98), CCRC alleges that the trial court erred in summarily

denying the following claims:

A. the IAC/prosecutor comments claim (Post-Conviction Claim V, denied at PCR V34/5155-5162 and V34/5249-5263);

B. the IAC/rules-prohibiting-juror-interviews claim (Post-Conviction Claim XIV, denied at PCR V34/5193-5195 and V35/5280-5283);

C. the cruel & unusual punishment claim (time on death row and method of execution) (Post-Conviction Claim XVI, denied at PCR V34/5199-5201 and PCR V35/5287-5289).

CCRC's pro forma restatement of claims that were summarily denied below is woefully inadequate to fairly preserve any issue on appeal. This entire issue, consisting of three perfunctory subclaims, is waived for appellate review. See, Rose v. State, 985 So. 2d 500, 509 (Fla. 2008) (Rose merely stated a conclusion and referred to arguments made below and, therefore, issue was waived for appellate review), citing Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) ("The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived."); Simmons v. State, 934 So. 2d 1100, 1111 n. 12 (Fla. 2006); Cooper v. State, 856 So. 2d 969, 977 n. 7 (Fla. 2003) (same).

Moreover, the complaints underlying Kilgore's IAC claims (prosecutorial comments, rules governing juror interviews and execution by electrocution or lethal injection) all involve issues that were cognizable on direct appeal and, therefore, are

procedurally barred in post-conviction. See, *Bell v. State*, 965 So. 2d 48, 60 (Fla. 2007), citing *Lamarca v. State*, 931 So. 2d 838, 851 n. 8 (Fla. 2006) (prosecutorial misconduct claims procedurally barred because they could have been raised on direct appeal); *Allen v. State*, 854 So. 2d 1255, 1258 n.4 (Fla. 2003) (claims challenging the constitutionality of the rules governing juror interviews should be brought on direct appeal); *Suggs v. State*, 923 So. 2d 419, 441 (Fla. 2005) (claim that execution by electrocution or lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment was not raised on direct appeal; therefore, it is procedurally barred in post-conviction; furthermore, this Court has consistently rejected arguments that these methods of execution are unconstitutional. *Id.*, citing *Sochor v. State*, 883 So. 2d 766, 789 (Fla. 2004); *Provenzano v. Moore*, 744 So. 2d 413, 414-15 (Fla. 1999); *Sims v. State*, 754 So. 2d 657, 668 (Fla. 2000).

Kilgore's bare-bone IAC complaints and cruel & unusual punishment claims are not only waived, see *Duest*, but are also without merit. As to the IAC/prosecutor comments claim (postconviction claim V), the trial court addressed each of the comments cited by Kilgore and found either: (1) the prosecutor's remarks were not improper and consequently, Kilgore failed to meet the first prong of *Strickland* in that he has failed to prove counsel acted deficiently in failing to object to the alleged remarks or (2) Kilgore failed to meet the second prong of *Strickland* in that

he failed to prove how counsel's alleged failure to object to the alleged argument resulted in prejudice "when the Court instructed the jury that it was to decide the case solely upon the answers given by the witnesses and the exhibits, and that what the attorneys say in opening statements and closing arguments is not evidence." See, Orders at PCR V34/5155-5162 and V34/5249-5263; See also, *Taylor v. State*, 3 So. 3d 986, 997 (Fla. 2009), citing *Waterhouse v. State*, 792 So. 2d 1176, 1182 (Fla. 2001) (because *Strickland* requires both prongs, it is not necessary to address prejudice when a deficient performance has not been shown); *Harvey v. State*, 946 So. 2d 937, 943 (Fla. 2006) (where the defendant failed to demonstrate prejudice, this Court need not address the deficiency prong of *Strickland*).

Next, Kilgore's pro forma IAC/juror interview claim is likewise waived, see Duest, and also without merit. In denying the IAC/juror interview claim, the trial court found, inter alia, that (1) Kilgore's alleged inability-to-interview-jurors claim was procedurally barred and (2) juror MacKroy never lied during voir dire. See, PCR V35/5282-5283; PCR V34/5193-5195. Moreover, Kilgore "failed to allege that there were peremptory challenges remaining which counsel would have exercised at the time the question was asked. Consequently, Defendant has failed to meet the second prong of Strickland in that he has failed to prove how counsel's alleged failure to research juror MacKroy's criminal

history resulted in prejudice." (PCR V35/5283; PCR V34/5193-5195) Kilgore has not alleged, nor demonstrated, any basis for relief. See, *Evans v. State*, 995 So. 2d 933, 952 (Fla. 2008) (affirming trial court's summary denial of claim challenging the constitutionality of Rule 4-3.5(d)(4), Rules Regulating the Florida Bar).

Kilgore asserts a one-paragraph challenge to execution as alleged cruel and unusual punishment. In addition, Kilgore alleges incarceration before judicial that "prolonged execution contradict[s] evolving international human rights principals." (Initial Brief at 98). This token allegation is waived under Duest. Moreover, the trial court correctly denied Kilgore's claim as procedurally barred and also without merit. (PCR V34/5199-5202 and V35/5287-5289); See also, Tompkins v. State, 994 So. 2d 1072, 1085 (Fla. 2008), citing Booker v. State, 969 So. 2d 186, 200 (Fla. 2007) (noting that no federal or state court has accepted the argument that a prolonged stay on death row constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, especially where both parties bear responsibility for the long delay); Marek v. State, 8 So. 3d 1123, 1131 (Fla. 2009) (same).

Furthermore, Kilgore's perfunctory challenge to lethal injection is waived, *Duest*, and is also without merit, as this Court explained in *Finney v. State*, 2009 WL 2856929 (Fla. 2009):

In his first claim in this appeal, Finney contends that the circuit court erred in summarily denying his

challenge to Florida's lethal injection procedures as violating the constitutional prohibitions against cruel and unusual punishment. See U.S. Const. amend. VIII; art I, § 17, Fla. Const. As appellant admits, however, we have repeatedly upheld these procedures against such constitutional challenges. See Tompkins v. State, 994 So. 2d 1072, 1081 (Fla. 2008), cert. denied, 129 S.Ct. 1305 (2009); Power v. State, 992 So. 2d 218, 220-21 (Fla. 2008); Sexton v. State, 997 So. 2d 1073, 1089 (Fla. 2008); Henyard v. State, 992 So. 2d 120, 129-30 (Fla.), cert. denied, 129 S.Ct. 28 (2008); Schwab v. State, 995 So.2d 922, 924-33 (Fla. 2008); Woodel v. State, 985 So. 2d 524, 533-34 (Fla.), cert. denied, 129 S.Ct. 607 (2008); Lebron v. State, 982 So. 2d 649, 666 (Fla. 2008); Lightbourne v. McCollum, 969 So. 2d 326 (Fla.2007), cert. denied, 128 S.Ct. 2485 (2008); Schwab v. State, 969 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 2007), cert. denied, 128 S.Ct. 2486 (2008). Additionally, we have held the procedures constitutional under the requirements of Baze v. Rees, 128 S.Ct. 1520 See Ventura v. State, 2 So. 3d 194 (Fla.) (2008).("Florida's current lethal-injection protocol passes muster under any of the risk-based standards considered by the Baze Court (and would easily satisfy the intentbased standard advocated by justices Thomas and Scalia)."), cert. denied, 129 S.Ct. 2839 (2009); Henyard, 992 So.2d at 130.

Kilgore's final issue, which merely identifies claims summarily denied below, is waived. Claims cognizable on direct appeal are procedurally barred in post-conviction. And, CCRC's perfunctory IAC allegations fail to establish any deficiency of counsel and resulting prejudice under *Strickland*.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, arguments and citations of authority the decision of the lower court denying post-conviction relief should be affirmed.